STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT

MATTHEW SCHAFER, HARRY
HUCKLEBURY, and LILLY
HUCKLEBURY,

Plaintiffs-Appellees,

v

KENT COUNTY,

Defendant-Appellant,

and

KENT COUNTY TREASURER,

Defendant.

Supreme Court Case No. _____

Court of Appeals Case No. 346908

Kent County Circuit Court
Case No. 220-009502-CZ

Hon. Paul J. Denenfeld

Donald R. Visser (P27961)
Donovan J. Visser (P70847)
Brittany Dzuris (P81438)
VISSER AND ASSOCIATES PLLC
2480 – 44th Street SE, Suite 150
Kentwood, Michigan 49512
616.531.9860

Attorneys for Plaintiffs-Appellees

Matthew T. Nelson (P64768)
Conor B. Dugan (P66901)
Ashley G. Chrysler (P80263)
WARNER NORCROSS + JUDD LLP
150 Ottawa Avenue NW, Suite 1500

STATEMENT OF APPELLATE JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction under MCR 7.303(B)(1) to grant leave to appeal from the Court of Appeals' opinion entered on September 22, 2022.

ORDER APPEALED AND RELIEF SOUGHT

Defendant Kent County seeks leave to appeal the published September 22, 2022 Court of Appeals' opinion affirming the Kent County Circuit Court's denial of Kent County's motion to dismiss Plaintiffs' claims. Kent County argued that this Court's decision in *Rafaeli LLC v Oakland County*, 505 Mich 429; 952 NW2d 434 (2020), should not apply retroactively to Plaintiffs' claims that accrued before *Rafaeli*, but Plaintiffs did not file their claims until after *Rafaeli* was issued. The Court of Appeals held that *Rafaeli* must be given full retroactive effect. To reach that erroneous conclusion, the Court of Appeals had to disregard its own published decision from eight months earlier in *Proctor v Saginaw County Board of Commissioners*, ___ Mich App __; ___ NW2d __; 2022 WL 67248 (2022), where the Court of Appeals held that *Rafaeli* applies retroactively for named plaintiffs in cases pending at the time when *Rafaeli* was decided, but not to those, like the putative class members in *Proctor*, whose claims were not pending. *Proctor*, 2022 WL 67248 at *7, *15. Accordingly, Kent County respectfully requests that this Court grant leave to appeal, and reverse the Court of Appeals' decision.

STATEMENT OF QUESTIONS PRESENTED

Whether this Court's decision in *Rafaeli LLC v Oakland County*, 505 Mich 429; 952 NW2d 434 (2020) applies to claims that accrued before *Rafaeli* was issued but were not filed until after *Rafaeli* was decided.

Plaintiffs/Appellees Answer: Yes

Defendant/Appellant Answers: No

Trial Court Answers: Yes

Court of Appeals Answers: Yes, but the Court reached a different conclusion in *Proctor v Saginaw County Board of Commissioners*, __ Mich App __; __ NW2d __ (2022).

REASONS FOR GRANTING LEAVE TO APPEAL

This appeal raises a question of great public and jurisprudential significance left open by this Court’s decision over two years ago in *Rafaeli, LLC v Oakland County*, 505 Mich 429; 952 NW2d 434 (2020): Does *Rafaeli* apply to tax-foreclosure sales before the *Rafaeli* decision came down? In *Rafaeli*, this Court held that the explicit provision of the General Property Tax Act (the GPTA), which mandated that counties after foreclosing and selling tax-delinquent properties retain any proceeds from the sale of such tax-foreclosed properties even if those proceeds exceeded unpaid taxes, violated the Michigan Constitution’s taking provision. Since then, Michigan’s lower courts have struggled with the question of whether *Rafaeli* should be applied with full retroactivity, with limited-retroactivity, or prospectively. Indeed, the Michigan Court of Appeals, in two published decisions issued just-over a half-year apart and authored by the same judge, has reached contradictory conclusions. In its first opinion, *Proctor v Saginaw County Board of Commissioners*, --- Mich App ---; --- NW2d ---; 2022 WL 67248 (2022), the Court of Appeals held that *Rafaeli* applied with limited retroactivity. In the second case, the Court of Appeals said that *Rafaeli* applied with *full* retroactivity. The Court of Appeals did not explain how the two decisions were compatible. The contradictory nature of the two published Court of Appeals’ opinions is itself grounds for granting leave to appeal. MCR 7.305(B)(5)(B). But that is only the tip of the iceberg.

Whether *Rafaeli* applies with limited retroactivity is an issue of “significant public interest” involving the State (which acts as the foreclosing governmental unit for certain counties) and numerous “subdivisions” of the state, namely, Michigan’s 75 counties that have served as foreclosing governing units under the GPTA. MCR 7.305(B)(2). The retroactive effect of *Rafaeli*, if any, is hugely significant for these 75 counties. If *Rafaeli* applies with *full*

retroactivity, massive liability will be imposed on counties throughout Michigan, especially as class-action counsel assert that they are entitled to assert *Rafaeli* claims for foreclosure sales dating back to 2008. Moreover, the answer to the retroactivity question is significant because after the *Rafaeli* decision, the Michigan Legislature enacted an exclusive claims process for *Rafaeli* claims. That process is applied prospectively unless this Court gives *Rafaeli* retroactive application. Furthermore, the answer to the retroactivity question will also directly affect the more than two dozen ongoing state and federal putative class actions and other actions pending in state and federal courts.

The question of *Rafaeli*'s retroactivity also involves a "legal principle of major significance for the state's jurisprudence." MCR 7.305(B)(3). Michigan's limited retroactivity jurisprudence is a confusing warren of oft-contradictory caselaw. Sometimes courts apply a fulsome analysis considering various factors. Other times, they simply conclude without any analysis that a decision should apply with limited retroactivity or only prospectively. This case presents a clean vehicle for this Court to bring clarity to that retroactivity caselaw. The *Rafaeli* decision announced an unforeseen change in the law affecting a tax statute that was not foreshadowed by earlier decisions by the Michigan courts (and contrary to the rule adopted by courts in other states). In such circumstances, an overruling case's rule should apply, at most, with limited retroactivity. But the confusing state of Michigan's retroactivity jurisprudence invites errors regarding when limited retroactivity applies (where the change in the law unsettles significant reliance interests and undermines the administration of justice), what it applies to (claims that accrue before the overruling decision), and how it is applied (flexibly to address the specific case).

The foregoing also highlights the clearly erroneous nature of the Court of Appeals' decision, a decision that will lead to material injustice. MCR 7.305(B)(5)(A). A new tax rule such as announced in *Rafaeli* should be applied, at most, with limited retroactivity. Analysis of Michigan caselaw and decisions from around the country demonstrate that tax cases are regularly applied with prospective-effect only precisely because they upend the legitimate reliance of public agencies on duly-enacted tax laws. For over 20 years, 75 Michigan counties simply did what they were *mandated* to do when they foreclosed upon tax-delinquent property. They had no power themselves to change the law. That is precisely a situation where Michigan courts have given a decision that changes the law limited retroactive or prospective-only effect. The Court of Appeals ignored these reliance interests. And given the Court of Appeals' erroneous decision here and contradictory decision in *Proctor*, Michigan's counties are facing enormous and—after the Sixth Circuit's rejection of this Court's reasoning in *Rafaeli* in its decision in *Hall v Meisner*, 51 F4th 185 (CA 6, 2022)—incalculable liability for simply following the mandates of a statutory provision that no one questioned for nearly 20 years and applying it to those who failed to pay their taxes.

In short, this case raises issues that are worthy of this Court's review. And, unlike *Proctor*, the other county tax-foreclosure case with an application pending in this Court, this case presents the retroactivity issue cleanly and without any other issues to muddy the waters. A decision that *Rafaeli* applies retroactively only in cases where challenges to the retention of surplus proceeds before *Rafaeli* were raised and preserved is dispositive here because the Plaintiffs did not initiate this action for pre-*Rafaeli* surplus proceeds until after that decision was issued. This Court should grant leave, reverse the Court of Appeals' decision here, and bring clarity to Michigan's retroactivity caselaw.

BACKGROUND

The General Property Tax Act

Before 1999, the GPTA was a tax-lien statute. When a taxpayer was delinquent in paying property taxes, the county recorded a lien and, three years later, the lien would be offered at a tax-lien sale. Kevin T. Smith, *Foreclosure of Real Property Tax Liens Under Michigan's New Foreclosure Process*, 29 Mich Real Prop Rev 51, 51 (2002); see also *Rafaeli*, 505 Mich at 442 n 10. The process was cumbersome and “could extend many years, causing properties to deteriorate and become clouded with poor title.” *Rafaeli*, 505 Mich at 442 n 10. As a result, counties suffered from chronic under- and non-payment of property taxes, and properties became blighted and burdened with excessive rehabilitation expenses.

In 1999, the Michigan Legislature revised the GPTA to “expedite[] the foreclosure process, thereby reducing the amount of abandoned, tax-delinquent properties within the state.” *Id.* It converted the GPTA from a tax-lien statute to a tax-deed statute. As revised, the GPTA allowed for “the recovery of unpaid real-property taxes, penalties, interest, and fees through the foreclosure and sale of the property on which there is a tax delinquency.” *Id.* at 441–442. Pursuant to this process, “tax-delinquent properties are forfeited to the county treasurers as the foreclosing governmental unit; foreclosed on after a judicial foreclosure hearing; and, if not timely redeemed, sold at a public auction.” *Id.* at 442 (cleaned up). See MCL 211.44; MCL 211.45.

The 1999 version of the GPTA provided for a lengthy process whereby property owners were given repeated notices of tax delinquencies, property forfeiture, and foreclosure. When property taxes had remained unpaid for a year after notice was given of the delinquency, the properties were labeled delinquent. See MCL 211.78a(2). Tax-assessing governmental units—villages, townships, and cities—would receive a payment from their respective county’s

delinquent Property Tax Administration Fund to ensure that they received their expected and budgeted-for taxes. MCL 211.55–59. After another year of non-payment, tax-delinquent properties would be forfeited to the county treasurer.¹ See MCL 211.78g(1) (2015). Forfeiture under the GPTA simply means that “a foreclosing governmental unit may seek a judgment of foreclosure if the property is not redeemed; it does not affect title.” *Rafaeli*, 505 Mich at 444.

After forfeiture, the foreclosing governmental unit would give notice to everyone with a recorded interest in the property that if the property was not redeemed by the payment of the delinquent taxes, title to the property would vest in the county treasurer. See *id.*; MCL 211.78g(2) (2015). If the owner still failed to pay the taxes, the foreclosing governmental unit would file a petition for foreclosure in the circuit court. See MCL 211.78h(1). Before the hearing, the foreclosing governmental unit was required to hold an administrative show-cause hearing where interest holders could show why the property should not be foreclosed. MCL 211.78j. The hearing would not be held until just before March 1 of the year *after* forfeiture. MCL 211.78h(5), i.e., after three years and numerous notices of non-payment of taxes. After a judicial foreclosure hearing, fee-simple title would vest in the county treasurer as the foreclosing governmental unit unless the tax delinquency and related sums were paid by March 31. See MCL 211.78k (2017).

After foreclosure, the GPTA required the foreclosing governmental unit to offer the tax-foreclosed properties for sale to the state, then the municipality where the property is located, then to the county where the property is located. See MCL 211.78m (2015). These governmental units could exercise a right of first refusal to purchase properties for the sum of the

¹ In Kent County and 74 other counties, the county treasurer acts as the foreclosing governmental unit. The state acts as the foreclosing governmental unit for the remaining nine counties.

delinquent taxes, interest, penalties, and fees due on the property, plus all expenses of preparing for and administering the sale. MCL 211.78m(11) (2015). If a governmental unit did not purchase the property, the GPTA required the foreclosing governmental unit to try to sell the foreclosed property at auction. At an initial auction, the property could only be sold for an amount equal to or greater than the minimum bid—the same sum for which the properties were offered for sale to the units of government. If a property did not sell, it would be offered to the units of government, and then at a later auction with no minimum bid.

Auction proceeds would be placed into a delinquent-tax account and commingled with proceeds from other sales. The foreclosing governmental unit had an obligation to use the proceeds to reimburse taxing entities (i.e. school districts, special taxing districts, etc.) for delinquent taxes. *Rafaeli*, 505 Mich at 446; see also MCL 211.78m(2) (2015). Auction “sale proceeds were often insufficient to cover the full amount of the delinquent taxes, interest, penalties, and fees related to the foreclosure and sale of the property.” *Rafaeli*, 505 Mich at 447 (cleaned up). However, if there were “excess proceeds . . . those proceeds were used to subsidize the costs for all foreclosure proceedings and sales for the year of the tax delinquency, as well as any years prior or subsequent to the delinquency.” *Id.* (cleaned up). After that, any “surplus proceeds may be transferred to the county general fund in cases in which the county is the foreclosing governmental unit.” *Id.* Under the 1999 GPTA, former property owners were not entitled to “any disbursement of the surplus proceeds” nor was there any mechanism to pay those proceeds to the former property owner. *Id.*

The GPTA foreclosure process responds to a practical necessity. Untimely and unpaid taxes create a hardship on local governments which depend on property taxes to finance public services. And in the absence of foreclosures, governments have little leverage to persuade to pay

delinquent taxes. The GPTA's forfeiture, foreclosure, and sale process resulted in the recovery of more than 95% of delinquent property taxes in most years.

The Court of Appeals concludes that the GPTA's foreclosure-and-sale process does not give rise to a taking

Until July 2020, all challenges to the constitutionality of the GPTA had been rebuffed. See, e.g., *Wayside Church v Van Buren Co*, 847 F3d 812 (CA 6, 2017); *Rafaeli, LLC v Oakland Co*, No. 330696, 2017 WL 4803570 (Mich Ct App, Oct 24, 2017).

Most pertinent to this case, on October 24, 2017, the Court of Appeals issued its decision in *Rafaeli*, addressing claims that the GPTA "allows unconstitutional takings." 2017 WL 4803570 at *4. Looking to *Bennis v Michigan*, 516 US 442, 452 (1996), the Court of Appeals explained that the taking theory was "without merit" because the surplus proceeds were obtained "by way of a statutory scheme that did not violate due process." *Rafaeli*, 2017 WL 4803570 at *4. Because the GPTA provided for forfeiture "by way of a statutory scheme that did not violate due process, the Court of Appeals relied on *Bennis*' holding that a government need not pay just compensation for property 'lawfully acquired under the exercise of governmental authority other than the power of eminent domain.'" *Id.* (quoting *Bennis*, 516 US at 452).

Judge Shapiro concurred, but wrote separately because he thought that *Nelson v City of New York*, 352 US 103, 110 (1956) demonstrated that the U.S. Supreme Court's rejection of a constitutional challenge to statutes like the GPTA "appears clear and unequivocal." *Id.* at * 5. Judge Shapiro also explained that Michigan and ten other states in the country do not return surplus proceeds under their respective tax statutes and foreclosure processes—and "those states that do require the return of surplus value all do so as a result of legislation, not judicial action." *Id.* at *6 n 3.

To sum it up, the Court of Appeals held that a takings claim for surplus proceeds was “without merit,” with a concurrence agreeing that such claims were clearly and unequivocally rejected long ago by the U.S. Supreme Court. *Id.* And, as Judge Shapiro recognized, no other state court had ever provided for the return of surplus proceeds under comparable statutes. *Id.*

This Court announces a new rule in *Rafaeli*

This Court granted leave to appeal *Rafaeli*, but limited the scope of the appeal to whether the defendants violated the Michigan and/or federal Takings Clauses “by retaining proceeds from the sale of tax foreclosed property that exceeded the amount of the tax delinquency.” *Rafaeli, LLC v Oakland Co*, 503 Mich 909; 919 NW2d 401 (2018).

The Court issued its opinion in July 2020, announcing that the GPTA violates the Michigan Constitution’s taking provision because the GPTA did not provide for the return of any surplus proceeds from the sale of tax-foreclosed properties to the former property owners. *Rafaeli*, 505 Mich at 479. In particular, the Court held that “an owner of real or personal property has a right to any surplus proceeds that remain after property is sold to satisfy a tax debt” and that Michigan’s Takings Clause “protects a former owner’s property right to collect the surplus proceeds following a tax-foreclosure sale.” *Id.* at 463, 473. Notably, this Court determined that the property-tax foreclosure itself was not a taking. *Id.* at 474.

Additional, this Court invited the Legislature to “enact[] legislation that would require former property owners to avail themselves of certain procedural avenues to recover the surplus proceeds.” *Id.* at 473 n 108. The Court did not address whether its decision had retroactive application.

The Legislature amends the GPTA following *Rafaeli*

The Legislature accepted this Court’s invitation. It adopted Public Acts 255 and 256 of 2020 which, among other things, modified the GPTA’s “procedures by which a person with an interest in that property could pursue an interest in proceeds from the sale or transfer.” See HOUSE FISCAL AGENCY, Legislative Analysis, *Tax-Delinquent Foreclosed Properties*. Public Act 256 added a new section 78t to the GPTA to provide a mechanism for property-interest holders to claim surplus proceeds, MCL 211.78t. That section broadly includes as prospective claimants any person “with a legal interest in property immediately” before foreclosure, i.e., property owners as well as lienholders. MCL 211.78t(12)(a). And the revised law provides “the exclusive mechanism for a claimant to claim and receive any applicable remaining proceeds under the laws of this state.” MCL 211.78t(11).

Under the new statutory language, property-interest holders whose property was sold after the *Rafaeli* decision can make a claim for the surplus proceeds by following the procedure set forth in the statute. MCL 211.78t(1)(a)(2)–(5). But property-interest holders whose property was transferred or sold under section 78m before July 18, 2020 cannot make a claim for reimbursement unless this Court “orders that its decision in *Rafaeli* . . . applies retroactively.” MCL 211.78t(1)(b)(i).

Plaintiffs fail to pay their taxes and lose their properties

Plaintiffs owned properties located within Kent County. (Compl ¶ 8.) They failed to pay taxes on their properties. (*Id.* ¶ 15.) Pursuant to the GPTA, Plaintiffs received notice after notice of their failure to pay delinquent property taxes and the looming foreclosure on their properties because of failure to pay their taxes. See MCL 211.78a; 211.78b; 211.78c; 211.78f. Plaintiffs still failed to pay their delinquent taxes. The County foreclosed upon the properties in

accordance with the GPTA in 2017, about three years before the *Rafaeli* decision. (Compl ¶¶ 14–15 & Ex 1.) Later that year, the County sold the properties at auction as required by state statute. (*Id.* ¶ 16.)

The trial court concludes that *Rafaeli* applies retroactively

On December 14, 2020, Plaintiffs filed a putative class-action complaint in the Kent County Circuit Court against Kent County and its then-Treasurer Kenneth Parrish.² The properties were subject to mortgages and federal tax liens at the time of foreclosure. (See Tax Reversion Files, App 37-40.) Nonetheless, the Plaintiffs did not name the financing institutions nor the U.S. Department of Treasury as parties to their action. (See Compl.)

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