STATE OF MICHIGAN  
IN THE SUPREME COURT  
\*\*\*\*\*

MATTHEW SCHAFER, an individual;  
HARRY HUCKLEBURY, an individual; and  
LILLY HUCKLEBURY, an individual, for  
themselves and all those similarly situated,

Supreme Court Case No. \_\_\_\_\_

COA Docket No. 356908  
Trial Court No. 20-09502-CZ

Plaintiffs/Appellees,

-vs-

**\*\*CLASS ACTION\*\***

KENT COUNTY, a Governmental Unit;  
PETER MACGREGOR, in his individual and  
official capacity; and KENNETH PARRISH, in  
his individual capacity,

Defendants/Appellants.

---

VISSER AND ASSOCIATES, PLLC  
Donald R. Visser (P27961)  
Donovan J. Visser (P70847)  
Bria Adderley-Williams (P84876)  
*Attorneys for Respondents/Appellees*

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

## ARGUMENT

While a certain level of embellishment might be expected of an appealing party, Kent County's Application assembles convenient fragments from various cases and academic articles in its attempt to create a mirage of inconsistency in Michigan's retroactivity case law. Petitioner both improvidently claims that *Rafaeli* created a new principle of law—triggering the need to do a retroactive/prospective analysis—and erroneously claims that Michigan's developed case law is unclear and completely out of step with other jurisdictions.

A significant portion of Petitioner's arguments are rooted in selectively quoted segments of two law review articles to suggest that those articles support the need for this Court to provide some clarity. Instead, even those articles support the current state of the law in Michigan.

Despite Petitioner's machinations, in the end, Petitioner is simply arguing that the Court of Appeals wrongfully determined that *Rafaeli* did not announce a change in the law and that the County was justified in relying on the statute. That is a simple argument endorsing the current state of the law and asking this Court to be an error correcting court. Alternatively, it would appear that Petitioner is requesting that this Court make a carve-out for unconstitutional tax provisions based upon its assertions that its constitutional obligations are unfair.<sup>1</sup> In doing so, Petitioner has chosen to ignore the unfairness to the former taxpayers that have lost one of the most important assets of their lives. In short, Petitioner seeks an exception based upon equity without consideration of the equities of the victims.

---

<sup>1</sup> See Petitioner's Application for Leave at pg. 24-25.

## I. THIS COURT SHOULD NOT GRANT LEAVE TO APPEAL

Despite the clarity the Michigan Court of Appeals provided on the issue of retroactivity as it relates to this Court's decision in *Rafaeli*, Petitioner insists on finding justification to interfere with Respondents' vested property interest in the Surplus Proceeds generated from their former properties. To this end, Petitioner claims that this Court should grant its Application for Leave to Appeal ("Application for Leave" or "Application") to address various issues with Michigan's retroactivity jurisprudence.

To achieve its goal of convincing this Court to grant leave, Petitioner has attempted to paint a picture of a problematic law that has escaped review despite calls for change. However, that is not an accurate representation of the law at issue here, and Petitioner has failed to provide sound legal support showing otherwise. Therefore, this case does not present wide range of issues that Petitioner suggests.

Despite Petitioner's attempted illusion, the applicable threshold issue in this case is clear: did this Court announce a new rule of law in *Rafaeli*?<sup>2</sup> The Court of Appeals properly found that the answer to that question is undoubtedly no, and Petitioner's broad jurisprudential challenge to retroactivity is no more than a poorly concealed disagreement with the Court of Appeals' answer to that threshold question.

As such, Petitioner's secondary analysis of limited retroactivity and prospective only application are not only unsubstantiated but are also an improper request that this Court hypothetically consider what the law would be **if** *Rafaeli* had announced a new rule of law. Moreover, even if this Court were to find that issues of limited retroactivity and prospective only application arise in this case, as outlined below, *Rafaeli* must apply with complete retroactivity.

---

<sup>2</sup> See Petitioner's Application at pg. page 30 stating that "*Rafaeli* announced a new rule of law that overturned a validly enacted statute that counties and taxpayers had relied upon for 21 years."

**A. The Present Case Is an Inappropriate Vehicle to Address the Broad Spectrum of Retroactivity Law in Michigan.**

As an initial matter, this case does not provide an appropriate vehicle for this Court to address the litany of issues Petitioner has raised regarding the overall condition of retroactivity jurisprudence in Michigan. Petitioner wishes to suggest that Michigan's retroactivity law has been unclear since at least 1982 (See Petitioner's Application for Leave at pg. 14) largely based on a Wayne Law Review article penned by Justice Blair Moody Jr. and a subsequent Michigan Bar Journal article by Timothy A. Baughman. However, well suited answers to the legitimacy of those questions cannot be gained through this case. As much as Petitioner, or others for that matter, may wish for this Court to provide a "Restatement of Retroactivity," that is not the function of this Court, and there are many sound legal reasons this Court should not accept Petitioner's invitation to do so.

Specifically, Petitioner has asked this Court to "clarify that limited retroactive effect may be applied if there was extensive reliance on the overruled principle of law and where giving complete retroactive effect to the overruling decision would undermine the administration of justice." (Petitioner's Application for Leave to Appeal at pg. 20). Additionally, Petitioner has asked this Court to "clarify that the focus of the application of limited retroactivity [is] on events pre-dating the overruling decision that give rise to legal consequences affected by the overruling decision, and not primarily upon the timing of a lawsuit." *Id.* Not only do these inquiries not compel this Court's review because Michigan courts have already provided clear and consistent answers on these issues, but the facts and circumstances of this case do not trigger the application of limited retroactivity. Thus, any review of retroactivity in this matter would amount to an advisory opinion. As this Court is well aware, "[a]n advisory opinion constitutes the opinion of the several justices signatory based upon the bare words of the act and unadorned by any acts or

combination of facts; it is no more.” *Advisory Opinion re Constitutionality of 1972 PA 294*, 389 Mich 441, 461 n 1; 208 NW2d 469 (1973). It is well settled that Michigan’s 1963 constitution only authorizes this Court to provide advisory opinions to legislature or the governor of this State. *In re Request for Advisory Opinion, Enrolled House Bill No 5250*, 395 Mich 148, 149; 235 NW2d 321 (1975); *See also People v Gonzales*, 349 Mich 572, 573; 84 NW2d 753 (1957) (“There is no constitutional authority for this Court to render advisory opinions...”). It would undoubtedly be inappropriate and unconstitutional for this Court to oblige Petitioner’s request.

This matter arose from this Court’s detailed and dogmatic decision in *Rafaeli*. *Rafaeli* represents a very unique decision within this State’s jurisprudence. Unlike most cases that give rise to challenges regarding the application of retroactivity<sup>3</sup>, *Rafaeli* did not overrule a previous decision of this Court that held an opposite ruling. Petitioner itself highlighted that “[n]o Michigan court had previously suggested the unconstitutionality of the GPTA’s relevant tax-foreclosure provisions or otherwise found that a filament of a contingent interest in surplus proceeds would survive the “absolute vesting” in a government.” (Petitioner’s Application for Leave at pg. 28).

Prior to *Rafaeli*, Petitioner’s “rights” were based on a now defunct statute that provided for unconstitutional behavior, and there was no case law stating that Petitioner’s retention of Respondents’ surplus proceeds was constitutional. It is, therefore, extremely clear that *Rafaeli* did not create a new rule of law. In fact, this Court expressly stated that Respondents’ rights to collect surplus proceeds “was commonly understood to exist in the common law before the 1963

---

<sup>3</sup> Many of the prior cases Petitioner relies on discuss retroactive application as it relates to changes in statutes, court rules, or judicial interpretation of the former. Therefore, most of Petitioner’s Application addresses factual situations (and consequently, retroactivity issues) very dissimilar to the case at bar.

ratification of our Constitution; and continues to exist after 1963...” *Rafaeli*, 505 Mich at 473.

Moreover, this Court found that:

[h]aving originated as far back as the Magna Carta, having ingratiated itself into English common law, and having been recognized both early in our state’s jurisprudence and as late as our decision in *Dean* in 1976, a property owner’s right to collect the surplus proceeds from the tax-foreclosure sale of his or her property has deep roots in Michigan common law.

*Id.* at 471. Consequently, this Court’s decision in *Rafaeli* “does not announce a new rule of law, but rather returns our law to that which existed... and which has been mandated by our Constitution since it took effect in 1963.” *Rowland v Washtenaw County Rd Com’n*, 477 Mich 197, 221; 731 NW2d 41 (2007). The fact that *Rafaeli* did not overrule prior case law and did not announce a new rule of law places the case squarely within the “general rule ... that judicial decisions are to be given complete retroactive effect...” *Michigan Educ Employees Mut Ins Co v Morris*, 460 Mich 180, 189; 596 NW2d 142 (1999). An analysis of whether the limited retroactivity or prospective application exceptions apply is never addressed in this case because the “threshold question [of] whether the decision clearly established a new principle of law” (*Pohutski v City of Allen Park*, 465 Mich 675, 696; 641 NW2d 219 (2002)) has already been answered negatively by this Court within the *Rafaeli* opinion itself. <sup>4</sup>

Based on the facts of this case, the overhaul Petitioner requests for retroactivity law is nothing more than an inappropriate academic exercise. This Court should not grant leave.

---

<sup>4</sup> See e.g., *W A Foote Mem Hosp v Mich Assigned Claims Plain*, 504 Mich 985; 934 NW2d 44, 45 (2019) (applying the decision in *Covenant* retroactively after finding that the decision not create a new principle of law and, therefore, did not satisfy the threshold question in the *Pohutski* test).

**B. Petitioner Has Failed to Provide Sufficient Support for Its Claim that Michigan’s Retroactivity Jurisprudence is Confusing or Contradictory.**

Even if this Court were to somehow find that this case provides the appropriate forum to discuss Michigan’s retroactivity jurisprudence, Petitioner’s arguments are misguided. Petitioner has attempted to persuade this Court that the body of law governing retroactivity in this State presents a myriad of overly complex legal issues that render the law confusing and contradictory. However, Petitioner has failed to make a compelling argument with sufficient legal foundation to support its position. While complex, retroactivity law in Michigan is not confusing or contradictory, and there is nothing presented in Petitioner’s brief that suggests otherwise. This Court has consistently presented and applied the same general rules and exceptions.

Pursuant to Michigan law, “the general rule is that judicial decisions are to be given complete retroactive effect...” *Michigan Educ Employees Mut Ins Co*, 460 Mich at 189 (internal quotation marks omitted). However, “[w]here injustice might result from full retroactivity, this Court has adopted a more flexible approach, giving holdings limited retroactive or prospective effect.” *Lindsey v Harper Hosp*, 455 Mich 56, 68; 564 NW2d 861 (1997) (citing *Tebo v Havlik*, 418 Mich 350, 360; 343 NW2d 181 (1984)). “This flexibility is intended to accomplish the “maximum of justice” under varied circumstances.” *Id.*

In determining whether an exception should apply, the “threshold question [is] whether the decision clearly established a new principle of law.” *Pohustki*, 465 Mich at 696. Typically, if the Court determines that the threshold question is answered in the affirmative, this Court has set forth three factors which must be weighed in determining whether limited retroactivity or full prospective application is appropriate: “(1) the purpose to be served by the new rule, (2) the extent of reliance on the old rule, and (3) the effect of retroactivity on the administration of justice.” *Id.* at 696 (citing *People v Hampton*, 384 Mich 669, 674; 187 NW2d 404 (1971)). Ultimately, this

Court employs a balancing test analysis to determine what justice requires—limited retroactivity or prospective only application. *See e.g. Lindsey*, 455 Mich at 69 (“we do not find that the balance of justice demands prospective application in this case”); *See also People v Maxson*, 482 Mich 385, 399; 759 NW2d 817 (2008) (“the third prong weighs far more heavily against retroactive application than the second prong weighs for retroactive application”).

In terms of prospective-only application, this Court has opined that the “extreme measure” (*Devillers v Auto Club Ins Ass’n*, 473 Mich 562, 586; 702 NW2d 539 (2005)) “is appropriate only in exigent circumstances” *Id.* (quotation marks omitted). Specifically, “[p]rospective application of a holding is appropriate when the holding overrules settled precedent or decides an “issue of first impression whose resolution was not clearly foreshadowed.” *Lindsey*, 455 Mich at 68 (citing *People v Phillips*, 416 Mich 63, 68; 330 NW2d 366 (1982)). Thus, “prospective-only application of [Michigan Supreme Court] decisions is generally limited to decisions which overrule clear and uncontradicted case law.” *Devillers*, 473 Mich at 587. However, this Court has found that “the fact that a decision may involve an issue of first impression does not in and of itself justify giving it prospective application where the decision does not announce a new rule of law or change existing law, but merely gives an interpretation that has not previously been the subject of an appellate court decision.” *Lindsey*, 455 Mich at 68-69 (citing *Jahner v Dep’t of Corr*, 197 Mich App 111, 114; 495 NW2d 168 (1992)).

On the other hand, this Court has applied limited retroactivity when ***overruling prior case law*** (*Lesner v Liquid Disposal, Inc*, 466 Mich 95, 108-09; 643 NW2d 553 (2002) (emphasis added)) “where justified by the purpose of the new rule, the general reliance upon the old rule, and the effect of full retroactive application of the new rule on the administration of justice.”

*Buckeye Marketers, Inc v Finishing Servs, Inc*, 213 Mich App 615, 618; 540 NW2d 757 (1995) (citing *People v West*, 159 Mich App 424, 426; 407 NW2d 19 (1987)).

Despite accurately laying out the relevant legal standards governing limited retroactivity with multiple examples of this Court's consistent application of those rules (See Petitioner's Application for Leave at pgs. 17, 20), Petitioner asserts that this Court's application of limited retroactivity has been inconsistent and confusing. (See Petitioner's Application for Leave at pgs. 2, 17). If Petitioner genuinely does find this area of law confusing or inconsistent, respectfully, the issue does not lie with the law itself.

In support of its position, Petitioner has cited to a footnote contained in *W A Foote Mem'l Hosp v Michigan Assigned Claims Plan*, 321 Mich App 159; 909 NW2d 38 (2017) which discusses this Court's application of the principles of full and limited retroactivity in various cases. *W A Foote Mem'l Hosp*, 321 Mich App at 197 n 9. The *W A Foote* court explained that based on this Court's language in those cases, the Court of Appeals has opined that "[g]enerally, judicial decisions are given full retroactive effect i.e., *they are applied to all pending cases in which the same challenge has been raised and preserved.*" *Id.* (emphasis in original); *Paul*, 271 Mich App at 620. It is clear that the *Paul* court conflated the general rule of full retroactivity with the usual rule of limited retroactivity where a judicial decision overrules prior law.<sup>5</sup> While this Court has similarly expressed those positions in terms of the use of the words "general" and "usual," they are different and this Court has applied them in separate circumstances. *See e.g. Rowland v Washtenaw County Rd Com'n*, 477 Mich 197, 220; 731 NW2d 41 (2007) (noting that the **general** rule is that judicial decisions are given full retroactive effect and finding that the court's decision

---

<sup>5</sup> This is supported by the fact that the Court of Appeals has properly stated the rules in other cases. *See e.g. Buckeye Marketers, Inc v Finishing Servs, Inc*, 213 Mich App 615, 618; 540 NW2d 757 (1995).

is fully retroactive); *Devillers*, 473 Mich at 587 (applying its decision retroactively after finding that “our decision in this case is to be given retroactive effect **as usual**”).

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